UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

7-28-2014

Alexander v. Stibal Appellant's Brief Dckt. 41604

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A. Nature of the Case.

Vianna Stibal ("Vianna") wrote her first book about her personal journey to find God and to heal from cancer in 1998 entitled "Go Up And Seek God" followed by a second book in 2002 entitled "Go Up And Work With God." Tr.p.432,L.9-25-p.435,L.1;p.403,L16-18. A few years later, she started teaching her prayer and meditation technique titled "Theta Healing," to help others connect with God. Tr.p827L16-p.829L.23. She believes that focused prayer and faith in a God or higher spiritual power allows an individual to heal their body if that is their desire. Id. In 2008, she started a school that was operated by her company, Nature's Path *dba* the Theta Healing Institute of Knowledge ("THINK"). Tr.p.408,L.21-23.

Respondents Kara Alexander and Robby Robinson ("Kara and Robby") were students of Theta Healing. Tr.p.231,L13-24;R.Vol.1,p.18-25. They began taking classes in 2006 from licensed Theta Healing instructors in New York/New Jersey, respectively. Id. A year later, they came to Idaho Falls to take classes with Vianna. Tr.p.256,L.4-7. The Complaint in this matter was filed in November of 2011 alleging breach of contract and fraud -- five years after their first class in the Theta Healing meditation technique. See Complaint at R.Vol.1,p.18-25.

The 2011 Complaint involves four claims: Count I: fraudulent misrepresentation-degrees; Count II: fraudulent misrepresentation-healing; Count III: breach of contract-degrees; and Count IV: unjust enrichment. R.Vol.1,p.18-25. Count's I and III are based on the allegation that "Kara and Robby were recruited to become students at THINK based on the representations by Vianna and THINK that the organization would award valid doctorate degrees (or PhD) at the end of a certain amount of coursework . . . from an accredited school." R., Vol. 1, p. 19-20 (Complaint-3). They make this allegation despite a November 2008 email that Kara received from THINK to all practitioners notifying them that the "Doctorate of Ministry" was not a PhD, it was an honorary degree offered after completion of the coursework and that THINK is not an accredited school. Tr. p. 312 (Exhibit 11).

Count III is based on the allegations that "Kara and Robby took [3 years of] classes at THINK based on the representations from Vianna and THINK that Vianna is a healer, with the ability to heal herself and others, and that she can teach other people to become healers." R. Vol. 1, p. 21 (Complaint-4). They allege that the representations of healing were the "assertion that she healed herself of cancer, that she pulled herself out of a coma in Italy and that she healed herself from heart disease." Id. They further allege that "other students" told them that Vianna did not have the ability to heal others, and that her stories of healing were false." Id. p. 22 (Complaint-5). They alleged that these false statements induced them to take classes. Id. They did not allege what the exact statements were that they heard, where the statements were made, to whom the statements were made - Kara or Robby or both, or when the statements were made.

In ruling on Vianna/THINK's Summary Judgment Motion, the Court held that Kara and Robby had failed to plead Count II with specificity. Tr.p.42 (January 17, 2013 Hearing, p. 80:1-6.). The Court cautioned counsel that Kara and Robby must prove that they relied on each specific representation. Id. The Court also indicated that Kara and Robby would be prohibited from bringing in evidence any statements that had nothing to do with their claims. Id. at p.45.

The case proceeded and Vianna/THINK brought a Motion in Limine on this issue requesting, once again, that Kara and Robby specify what specific fraudulent misrepresentations were made and the who, what, when, how and were those were made. R., Vol. 1, Tr.p. 37. Kara's testimony at trial was that, in 2006, she read the more recent version of Vianna's 1998 book titled "Go Up and Seek God" that contained the statements regarding Vianna's personal journey to God and healing her cancer. Tr. p. 227. It was reading this book -- published 7 years

earlier -- that induced her to take more classes. Id. The other alleged statements re Count II were made at some other unspecified time and place. Tr. p. 218-220.

All claims were tried before the jury - even though Robby Robinson failed to appear. Appellant brought a Motion for Directed Verdict. Tr.p.615,L.5-p.645,L22. The ruling on the Directed Verdict was, inter alia, as follows: (1) Counts I-III for Robby Robinson were dismissed; (2) Kara Alexander's Count I was dismissed. The Court allowed Count's II and III for Kara to be determined by the jury. Tr.p.641,L.12-p.645,L19.

B. Course of Proceedings Below.

Vianna Stibal and THINK appeal the judgment entered on October 26, 2013 and several of the motions leading up to that judgment. R.Vol.3,p.413-421;R.Vol.3,p.422-424. As stated above, the Complaint was filed by Kara and Robby in November of 2011 alleging breach of contract and fraud in connection with classes they took between 2006 and the fall of 2008. See Complaint at R.Vol.1,p.18-25.

The Appellants answered the Complaint on December 7, 2011. R.Vol.1,p.26. The case was originally assigned to the Honorable John J. Shindurling, who disqualified himself on July 10, 2012. R.Vol.1,p.47. The case was then assigned to the Honorable Dane Watkins. On December 18, 2012, the Appellants filed a Motion for Summary Judgment, which was heard by the Court on January 17, 2013 along with the Respondents' Motion to Amend to Include a Prayer for Punitive Damages. R.Vol.1, p.65. On January 22, 2013, Judge Watkins denied the Appellants Motion for Summary Judgment and the Respondents' Motion to Amend to Include Punitive Damages. Tr.(Prepared by Karen Konvalinka) p.72-99.

On July 8, 2013, the Respondents' renewed their Motion to Amend to Include a Prayer for Punitive Damages. R.Vol.2,p.244. The Appellants filed an objection to the Respondents'

renewed motion on July 15, 2013, and filed Motions in Limine to exclude certain evidence on July 16, 2013. R.Vol.2,p.254;R.Vol.2,p.270. The case was then transferred to the Honorable William Woodland.

Arguments on the Respondents' Motion to Amend and on the Appellants' Motions in Limine were heard by Judge Woodland on July 22, 2013, just one (1) day before the scheduled jury trial which began on July 23, 2013. R.Vol.2.,p.281. The first day of jury trial, counsel were informed by Judge Woodland that the Respondents Motion to Amend was granted and a request for punitive damages could be made. Tr.p182,L.16-25;p.183,L1-15. The issue of punitive damages was limited to Count II. Tr.p.638,L.17-25;p.639, L.1-5, 638-641.

At the close of the Respondents' evidence, the Appellants brought a Motion for Directed Verdict. Tr.p.614,L.20-25;p.615-647,L.1. The Court granted the Motion for Directed Verdict as against Mr. Robinson, dismissing Counts I-III. Tr.p.641,L.12-23. The Court took Count IV under advisement and has never issued a ruling thereon. Tr.p.621,L.4-11. The Court also dismissed Count I for Kara Alexander. Tr.p.641, L.12-25-p.642, L.1-21.

The jury trial ended on July 26, 2013. The jury returned a verdict in favor of the Respondent as follows: Count II - Fraud: \$17,000.00; Count III - Contract: \$111,000.00; Punitive Damages: \$500,000.00; Total; \$628,000.00 (Tr.p.970-971).

Vianna and THINK filed their post trial Motions for JNOV, Remittitur and New Trial on August 19, 2013. R.Vol.2,p.319. The Trial Court entered its Memorandum Decision and Order on October 18, 2013, reducing the punitive award to \$384,000.00, which was presumably achieved by multiplying the damages on both Count II and Count III by three (3). R.Vol.3,p.383. The Court limited the punitive damage claim solely to Count II (award \$17,000).

Pg. 9

(See Tr.p.638,L.17-25;p.639,L.1-5). Vianna filed her Notice of Appeal in November 2013. R.Vol.3.p.425.

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS.

1. Brief History Of Vianna's Medical Treatment.

In or around 1995, Vianna had a 9-inch tumor in the bone of her leg. Tr.p.785,L.6-20. She began experiencing significant pain, difficulty walking and related medical problems associated with this leg, which landed her in the emergency room. Tr. p.837, L.1-p. 839, L.9. The emergency room doctor at Skyline referred her to a local physician, Dr. Biddulph - a bone specialist, who took an x-ray and told her that she had a malignant tumor. Tr. p.840, L.6-21. Dr. Biddulph, specifically told her, "[y]ou have cancer. And I have only seen two of these like this in my life and the first one was a younger boy and sometimes amputation helps." Id.

He referred to the University of Utah for further treatment. Tr. p.841, L.2-20. She went through rounds of tests, exams and one biopsy of the tumor. Tr.p.791,L.9-23. The biopsy results from the University of Utah were suggestive of a sarcoma (i.e., malignant tumor) diagnosis. Tr.p.792,L.4-22-p.795,L.3. The biopsy slide was sent to the Mayo Clinic for a second opinion because they found "cancer cells." Tr. p.795,L.22-p.796,L.10. The results of the Mayo Clinic were that the cells were suspicious for lymphoma. Tr.p.795,L.22-p.797,L.17. She and her then-husband were told by the doctors that the biopsy showed "cancer cells" and that she had lymphoma or a diagnosed sarcoma. Tr. p.847, L.5-21; Tr.p.588, L.5-18.

Vianna legitimately and sincerely believed that her 9-inch tumor was bone cancer and that ultimately God healed her of it. Tr. p.847, L.24-25;p.849,L.14-16. Dr. Phillip Beron, an oncologist, testified that it is common for patients in Vianna's situation to conclude that they have been diagnosed with cancer. Tr.p.802, L.8-25;p.803,L.1-24. The Respondent's medical

expert concurred with Dr. Beron testifying that it is typical for patients to believe they have cancer given what Vianna was going through. Tr.p.492-494. Vianna had three children and was determined to live for them but didn't have the money for any additional medical treatment. Tr.p.847,L.19-21. So, she turned to prayer and alternative methods to heal her body. Tr.p.849, L.5-16. Through natural homeopathic remedies, meditation and prayer to God, Vianna experienced a miraculous healing. Id. It is her belief that God healed her leg. Id.

2. History of Theta Healing.

Between 1998-2002, Vianna wrote two books titled "Go Up And Seek God" and "Go Up And Work With God." Tr.p825,L.23-p.826,L2;Tr.827 L.4-12. These books detailed a brief part of her personal journey to God through prayer and how God healed her of cancer. Tr.p.431,L.17-p.432,L.25. In these books, she documents her cancer and what she heard the doctors tell her about her condition. Tr.p.850,L15-17. Specifically, she states that "In August of 1995 I was diagnosed with bone cancer; and it was believed I had a tumor in my right femur. Every test the doctors performed showed the tumor, and a local bone specialist told me he had only seen two other cases like mine. He told me that amputation might be my only option if I wanted to live, and even then there was no guarantee." Tr. p. 438. She further details the meditation and prayer technique she used to connect with God. Id. She started to call her meditation technique "Theta Healing" and began teaching others how to do what she had done years before. Tr.p.829,L.5-20.

The primary tenant of ThetaHealing is to focus a person's energy and prayer towards God and command that God perform a healing as requested by that particular person. Tr.p.827, L.16p.829,L.4-25 Vianna teaches that the only healing that can be conducted is through God and her students are simply witnesses to the healing. Id. Vianna has never claimed that her meditation technique achieves success every time, rather it depends on each individual. Tr.p.829,L.21-25;p.830,L.1-25;p.831,L.1-5.

Respondent, Kara Alexander has a Bachelor's degree (double-major in art and biology as a medical illustrator) and has taken graduate studies in neuroscience at the University of Texas. Tr.p.232,L.13-15;p.266,L.15-16. Robby Robinson is an airplane pilot. Tr.p.883,L.5-6. Both became Theta Healing students at some point in or around 2006. Tr.p.231,L.13-16. They did not enroll with Vianna, but took classes from other certified Theta Healing instructors. Tr.p.2311,L.17-20. After taking numerous classes from other instructors, Kara and Robby independently chose to take classes from Vianna in Idaho Falls in 2007. Tr.p.359,L.6-9. The Theta Healing Institute of Knowledge was not in existence in 2007. Tr.p.408,L.21-23.

Contrary to the pleaded allegations in Count I, there was no certificate or degree offered by Vianna or THINK prior to May of 2008. Tr.p.360, L.22-25;p.361, L. 1-12. Without any promise of a degree, Kara and Robby took numerous classes throughout 2007 and 2008. Id. In or about July of 2008, Vianna asked her students - including Kara and Robby - to vote on how they wished to be recognized for their achievements. Tr.p. 697, L.5-15; p.756,L 8-14. Kara, Robby and the rest of the class voted to call it a "Doctorate of Ministry" in ThetaHealing in 2008 - just like the "Doctorate of Ministry" in Reiki. Tr.p.656-657,L.4; 316, L.10-20.

For Count III, the only allowable damages were classes taken by Kara for four (4) weeks in the summer of 2008. Tr.p.756,L 8-14. The only compensatory damages that could be considered by the jury when awarding the \$111,000 were 4 weeks of classes totaling less than \$2,300 in tuition and \$22,862.77 in costs. Tr.885p.756,L14-p.886,L.5. Upon completion of their classes, Kara and Robby received an honorary plaque indicating that they had completed the course and recognized them as having a Doctorate in Ministry in ThetaHealing. Tr.p.279,L.7-22. When Kara and Robby became aware that the Board of Education would not recognize the honorary "doctorate," they agreed to accept the designation of "Master" instead. Tr. p. 659. Three years after they accepted the "Theta Healing Master" designation, they filed their lawsuit.

3. The Complaint and Jury Trial.

The jury was ultimately presented with Counts II and III and a request for punitive damages on Count II for Kara Alexander only. Tr.p.621,L.22-25;p.641,L.24-25;p.642, L.1-10.

i. Count II - Fraudulent Misrepresentation-Healing.

Count II is based on the allegations that "Kara and Robby took [3 years of] classes at THINK based on the representations from Vianna and THINK that Vianna is a healer, with the ability to heal herself and others, and that she can teach other people to become healers." R. Vol. 1, p. 21 (Complaint-4). They allege that the representations of healing were the "assertion that she healed herself of cancer, that she pulled herself out of a coma in Italy and that she healed herself from heart disease, and can make liquids appear in containers." Id. They further allege that "other students" told them that Vianna did not have the ability to heal others, and that her stories of healing were false." Id. p. 22 (Complaint-5). They did not allege what the exact statements that where made or to whom or when the statements were made.

The record showed that Vianna did not say what they have alleged. Vianna specifically said that "God healed my cancer, God healed my heart disease, God pulled me out of a coma, and God can make liquids appear." Tr. p. 693, 836, 849, 865. In her 1998 book, she says God healed me. See Exhibits 24, 25. Kara testified that the first representations she heard of Vianna's personal story regarding cancer and God healing her of cancer was when she read the later version of the 1998 book "Go Up and Seek God" where Vianna stated: "[i]n August of 1995 I was diagnosed with bone cancer; and it was believed I had a tumor in my right femur. Every test

the doctors performed showed the tumor, and a local bone specialist told me he had only seen two other cases like mine. He told me that amputation might be my only option if I wanted to live, and even then there was no guarantee." Tr. p. 438. The same books that Kara read further detail Vianna's prayer and meditation technique and how she believes God healed her leg. (Exhibits 24, 25).

ii. Count III - Breach of Contract - Degree.

Count III is based on the allegation that "Kara and Robby were recruited to become students at THINK based on the representations by Vianna and THINK that the organization would award valid doctorate degrees (or PhD) at the end of a certain amount of coursework . . . from an accredited school." R., Vol. 1, p. 19-20 (Complaint-3). Both of these claims appear to be based on an expectation of something more than the "Doctorate of Ministry" plaque that both Kara and Robby each received. The November 2008 email that Kara received from THINK is evidence of the false nature of her allegations. Tr. p. 312 (Exhibit 11). That email notified all practitioners that the Doctorate of Ministry was not a PhD, it was an honorary degree offered after completion of the coursework and that THINK is not an accredited school. Id.

The Court ruled that Kara Alexander's damages on the Contract claim would be limited to damages sustained after May of 2008 totaling \$2,300 in tuition and \$22,862.77 in costs. Tr.p.12,L.12-25;p.48,L1-25;p.49,L.1-10. Exhibit 2 set out the tuition costs associated with the additional classes she took in 2008 based on the alleged promise. Tr.p.236,L.5-25.

- 1. Diseases and Disorders Course, August 4-15, 2008. Cost of \$1200.00.
- 2. Rainbow Children's, August 18-22, 2008. Cost of \$500.00.
- 3. World Relations, September 22-26, 2008. Cost of \$600.00

Total Cost: \$2300.00(Tr.p.365;Tr.p.245,L.18-24;Tr.239,L.3-17;p 268, L.20-25; p 389,L 19-23;Plaintiffs' Exhibit 2). Kara submitted an American Express transaction summary that itemized all expenses she claimed associated with taking courses at \$45,725.53, including a golf outing for Robby. Tr.p.885,L14-17 (Plaintiff's Exhibit 10). After Mr. Robinson's claims were dismissed, counsel reduced the costs by half - \$22,862.77. Tr.p.929,L.15-25;p.930,L.7, 887-889.

Kara Alexander was initially barred from introducing any lost wages testimony during her case in chief. Tr.p.287,L14-20;p.339,L12-19. The second day of trial, Kara produced a tax return showing her income in 2006 and 2007. Tr.p.576,L.4-p.579,L.4. The Court allowed Kara to retake the stand and testify that she made about \$750 per day while working as lost wages. Tr.p.609 L.13-25;p.610 L.1-13. No documentation was ever offered before trial and no evidence was admitted to show her daily rate or that she in fact did not make this money while taking classes that summer. No evidence was admitted on Kara Alexander's expectation associated with future wages because she chose to become a full-time Theta Healing practitioner and was already earning income as a practitioner and instructor. No evidence was presented of what Kara Alexander could expect to make as a certified Theta Healing practitioner or what her lost wages were from the alleged breach of contract. Despite the lack of evidence of specific damages and only proven damages of \$2,300 for classes taken and approximately \$23,000 in costs, the jury erroneously awarded \$111,000.00 in contract damages. Tr.p.970,L.9-11.

iii. Punitive Damages- Fraud Claim.

The punitive damage claim was limited by the Court ultimately to Count II as demonstrated below:

MR. WILKINSON: I know. I know. One more. I would ask the Court to reconsider it earlier ruling as it relates to punitive damage. THE COURT: Without getting into that right now extensively, as I have listened to the evidence of the case, I have concluded based on the evidence, that if the fraud—excuse me—if the

punitive damage issue is to be presented to the jury, it would be presented only in the context of the healing issue, not with regard to anything else. Tr.p.638,L.19-25;p.639,L.1-3.

Despite this limitation, the Court used the damages awarded in Count III in determining the proper amount of punitive damages. R.Vol.3,p.413.

iv.Post Trial Motions.

After the jury verdict, Appellants' filed their Motion for New Trial and/or Remittitur and for Judgment Notwithstanding the Verdict pursuant to *I.R.C.P.* 59(a)(1)(2)(3)(5)(6) (7) and *I.R.C.P* 50(b). With exception of reducing the punitive damage award the Court denied the Appellants motion in full. R.Vol.3,p.413. On appeal Vianna asks this Court to dismiss, in its entirety, the award of punitive damages and to strike the award of compensatory damages for both breach of contract and fraud.

IV.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- Whether the Trial Court erred in denying the Appellants' Motion for Directed Verdict, JNOV and New Trial because there was insufficient evidence to prove a valid, enforceable contract.
- Whether the Trial Court erred in denying the Appellants' Motion for Directed Verdict, JNOV and New Trial/Remittitur on the Respondent's contract damages as there was insufficient evidence supporting the award.
- Whether the Trial Court erred in denying the Appellants Motion for Directed Verdict, JNOV and New Trial as the Respondent failed to prove the elements of fraud by clear and convincing evidence.
- 4. Whether the Trial Court erred in granting the Respondent's Renewed Motion to

Amend the Complaint to Include a Prayer for Punitive Damages.

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