# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-25-2014

## Alexander v. Stibal Respondent's Brief Dckt. 41604

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

It was appropriate for the award to be three times the jury verdict, and not just three times the award for fraud because the plain language in the statute caps the punitive damages award at "three (3) times the compensatory damages contained in such judgment." Thus, the proper award was three times the entire compensatory damages, not just the fraud claim. The district judge had discretion to apply punitive damages to the entire award, and his discretion to do so must be upheld. In addition, the breach of contract claim similarly showed reckless and reprehensible conduct by the Appellants. Again, in order to entice people to take more classes and pay more money, Appellants offered a fake degree in exchange for students taking all the classes that were offered. This reprehensible conduct should be included in the punitive damages award. The district court properly included contract damages when calculating his punitive damages award.

c) The civil penalties for similar conduct is not a relevant factor in this case.

Appellants did not argue the third guidepost for evaluating a punitive damages award. While the existence of civil penalties for similar conduct is a factor when determining the validity of a punitive damages award, the desired effect of deterrence for similar conduct outweighs this factor. In *Weinstein*, the insurance company claimed a \$1,890,000.00 punitive damage award was excessive because the statutory civil penalty for similar conduct was only \$10,000.00.<sup>222</sup> However, the Idaho Supreme Court looked to the possible negative effects, and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>221</sup> Idaho Code §6-1604(3).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>222</sup> Idaho Code §6-1604(3).

noted that if the penalty was limited to compensatory damages, then the insurance company would have no deterrent to keep it from refusing to pay benefits in the future.<sup>223</sup>

In this case, there is a great risk that the Appellants will continue to use deceitful business practices without the deterrent punitive damages provides. Like in *Weinstein*, where the conduct was less reprehensible, an award of three times the compensatory damages is appropriate to deter the Defendants' deceptive and fraudulent business practices. The State of Idaho has a clear interest in deterring the same. \$384,000.00 is a modest sum to protect this interest.

# E. The trial court gave the Appellants a fair trial and thus properly denied their motion for a new trial.

The district court must grant a new trial if prejudicial errors of law have occurred.<sup>224</sup> While arguing for a new trial, Appellants have raised new issues on appeal that should not be considered. The remainder of the issues raised by Appellants are without merit and a new trial was properly denied.

# 1. The district court's calculation of damages was appropriate.

As set forth above, the jury's award of contract damages reflected a conservative view of Kara's expectation from her contract with Appellants. Kara expected a doctorate degree, but received a useless plaque. In addition, Vianna's reprehensible conduct justified a punitive damages award of three times the compensatory damages.

<sup>223</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>224</sup> Schaefer v. Ready, 134 Idaho 378, 380 (2000).

## 2. The videos admitted were relevant and proper foundation was laid.

The Court properly admitted videos of Vianna Stibal making comments about

ThetaHealing and promoting her business because the videos and audio introduced the case, and helped the jury understand the reprehensibility of Vianna's conduct and the extent of her fraud.

The Supreme Court defers decisions on the admissibility of evidence to the trial court, and only overturns those decisions in the event of a manifest abuse of discretion. Even when the trial court makes an evidentiary error, error is not grounds for a new trial unless the evidentiary failure is inconsistent with substantial justice. In Hake, the doctor in a medical malpractice case was not allowed to offer evidence of his referral habit at trial. While this was error, the doctor was able to introduce evidence of his referrals of the patient at issue to other doctors, as well as his medical charts showing he suggested the patient get consultations from other doctors. Thus, the exclusion of habit evidence was not inconsistent with substantial justice and the request for a new trial was properly denied.

In this case, the videos shown were introductory and relevant to fraud and punitive damages. Kara testified that the statements Vianna made in the videos and the audio recording were reflective of her understanding of ThetaHealing as described by Vianna.<sup>230</sup> Kara testified that the stories in the audio were very consistent with how Vianna told the stories.<sup>231</sup> It was better for the jury to hear Vianna tell the stories that form the basics of ThetaHealing, than Kara

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>225</sup> Hake v. DeLane, 117 Idaho 1058, 1064, 791 P.2d 1230, 1236 (1990).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>226</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>227</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>228</sup> Id.

<sup>229</sup> r.d

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>230</sup> Tr. p. 209, II. 5-19.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>231</sup> Tr. p. 215, II. 11-24.

giving a resuscitation of Vianna's words. ThetaHealing is not a mainstream concept, and the jury needed an introduction into ThetaHealing teachings in order to comprehend the case. In addition, the audio and videos were relevant to fraud because they showed Vianna's intent that when she tells stories, she intends the listener to act upon them. The video and audio also showed that the listener has the right to rely upon Vianna's statements because they are made for the purpose of promoting ThetaHealing. The video and audio are also relevant to punitive damages because it shows Vianna's reprehensibility by telling her false stories many times and to a vast audience in an attempt to recruit people to take classes and pay tuition.

Regardless, the videos were harmless to the Appellants because the information in the videos and audio were no different than the statements Vianna made at trial regarding her alleged healing and business. Vianna had ample time to rebut any statements made in the audio and videos if she wished, but did not do so because the statements made in the audio and videos were "extremely consistent" with how Vianna told the same stories to Kara over years of Kara taking classes.<sup>232</sup>

Evidence is adequately authenticated if it is supported by evidence "sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims." <sup>233</sup> In each of the videos, Kara was able to identify Vianna as the speaker, and where she found the video or audio.<sup>234</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>232</sup> Tr. p. 215, II. 23-24.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>233</sup> Idaho Rule of Evidence 901(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>234</sup> Tr. p, 207, I. 11-15, Tr., p. 215, II. 11-24.

Thereafter, Vianna authenticated the videos as well, testifying that she was the one being interviewed.<sup>235</sup>

One of the videos the Appellants object to was made in 2010.<sup>236</sup> In that video, Vianna shows some of her medical records, claiming they support her cancer story. However, the records Vianna shows were the records from the University of Utah showing that Vianna's biopsy was "suspicious, but not diagnostic," for cancer.<sup>237</sup> This video, released in 2010, was the first time Kara became aware that Vianna had not been diagnosed with cancer. The video is relevant to show falsity to Vianna's story of being diagnosed with cancer, and showing Kara's discovery of the falsity.

3. The District Court properly refused to allow both parties from testifying about healings that Kara did not rely upon.

At trial, the district court properly prevented the Appellants from providing evidence of healings which Kara did not rely upon because Respondents were subjected to the same limitation. Before trial, Appellants filed a motion in limine, and argued extensively that the only admissible stories were those Vianna told that the Respondents relied upon. Respondents wanted to offer evidence of other stories of healings and statements Vianna made that Respondents could prove were not true, even if the Respondents did not rely upon those statements. Respondents were prepared with a number of such stories from Lindsey Stock, Vianna's former daughter-in-law. Respondent's argument was that the stories were relevant to

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>235</sup> Tr. p. 399, Il. 15-25, p. 401, II. 1-4.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>236</sup> Exhibit 23, track 7.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>237</sup> Tr. p. 325, l. 2 – p. 330, l. 22.

 $<sup>^{238}</sup>$  Tr. p. 40, l. 11 – p. 41, l. 4.

prove that Vianna Stibal's entire healing modality was false, and she could not heal people. However, Appellants objected, and the Court agreed that Respondents were limited in their presentation to only offer evidence of stories Kara relied upon in her decision to take classes from Vianna.<sup>239</sup> The district court's rationale was that the case was not about whether Vianna was a legitimate healer, but over whether she made false statements that Kara relied upon.<sup>240</sup> The Court correctly limited both sides equally, and limited evidence to representations Kara Alexander relied upon.

The Appellants were happy with that ruling when it prevented Respondents from offering evidence of more false stories by Vianna, of which Lindsey Stock could have testified about. <sup>241</sup> However, when that same ruling prevented Vianna from testifying about healings that allegedly occurred that she can prove, Appellants objected. Appellants cannot have it both ways. The Respondents cannot be limited to offer only specific stories Kara relied upon, while the Appellants offer stories intended to prove her abilities as a healer that Kara did not rely upon. All stories of healings, whether true or not, that were not relied upon by the Respondents were properly omitted from evidence. Simply put, whether Vianna healed Sean Campbell or other people Appellants intended to call as witnesses was not relevant to whether Vianna told false stories in an attempt to get Kara to take classes in ThetaHealing.

Regardless, the Court's decision to exclude such testimony was harmless to the

Appellants because Vianna had the opportunity to present any evidence she could that she had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>239</sup> Tr. p. 649, Il. 12-23.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>240</sup> Tr. p. 649, l. 24 – p. 650, l. 11.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>241</sup> P. 649. II. 19-23.

cancer, had pulled herself out of a coma, did cure herself of heart disease, did heal her grandson's lung, and was in good health. She was simply not able to provide any compelling evidence on those relevant issues. Even if Vianna had presented evidence of other healings, she would not have overcome the fact that the stories upon which Kara relied upon in her decision to take ThetaHealing classes were false.

4. <u>Blake McDaniel was able to testify about Vianna Stibal's propensity for veracity.</u>

Idaho Rule of evidence 608(a) states that:

The credibility of a witness may be attacked or supported by evidence in the form of opinion or reputation, but subject to these limitations: (1) the evidence may refer only to character for truthfulness or untruthfulness, and (2) evidence of truthful character is admissible only after the character of the witness for truthfulness has been attached by opinion or reputation evidence or otherwise.

While it is true that credibility of a witness is an issue for the jury to decide, opinion as to propensity for telling the truth may be offered.<sup>242</sup>

Taking advantage of this rule, Respondents offered the opinion of Blake McDaniel, Vianna's former husband who was married to her at the time she was being tested for cancer, that Vianna Stibal is not a truthful person.<sup>243</sup> This testimony is helpful to the jury in its evaluation of Vianna's truthfulness. Appellants seem to believe this testimony was improper because this is a civil case, and because the jury ultimately decides who is truthful. IRE 608(a) does not limit opinion evidence to criminal cases, and while the jury decided who was truthful, that does not preclude Respondents from providing relevant opinions on that issue. Blake knew

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>242</sup> Idaho Rule of Evidence 608(a).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>243</sup> Tr. p. 595, l. 18 – p. 596, l. 11.

what allegations Vianna was making about cancer, and knew they were not true. His opinion as to her veracity was relevant and helpful.

As a result of this testimony, Appellants were free to offer evidence of Vianna Stibal's propensity for telling the truth, and actually did so. For example, Guy Stibal, Vianna's current husband, testified that Vianna was the second most honest person he knew besides his father. <sup>244</sup> This testimony was also allowed pursuant to IRE 608(a), and made the inclusion of Blake McDaniel's testimony harmless because Appellants were able to offer evidence to the contrary.

5. Vianna's medical records were properly admitted and were not prejudicial
The Court properly admitted Vianna Stibal's medical records contained in Exhibit 18
because the value in assisting the jury to evaluate Dr. Shull's opinion outweighs any prejudicial
effect. An expert witness may testify regarding facts and data that is otherwise not admissible.<sup>245</sup>
However, the data and facts may be admitted to the jury if the probative value of the information
assisting the jury in its evaluation of the expert's opinion substantially outweighs any prejudicial
effect.<sup>246</sup>

In this case, the data and facts relied upon by Dr. Shull were admissible, and properly admitted to the jury to assist them in evaluating Dr. Shull's opinions. One of the claims by Vianna Stibal, upon which Kara Alexander relied was Vianna's claim that she was in good health. Dr. Shull gave testimony based upon review of Vianna's medical records<sup>247</sup> that Vianna

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>244</sup> Tr. p. 689, l. 6 – p. 684, l. 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>245</sup> Idaho Rule of Evidence 703.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>246</sup> Id.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>247</sup> Appellants' Brief argues that Dr. Shull never commented on Vianna's medical records and only reviewed four pages of Vianna's medical records. The record is void of this testimony. Dr. Shull testified that he

suffers from hypercholesterolemia, insulin resistance, congestive heart failure, diastolic dysfunction, chronic sinusitis, allergies, hypertension, and chronic renal insufficiency.<sup>248</sup> Based on these diagnosis and Vianna's extensive treatment for these ailments, Dr. Shull testified that Vianna suffers from a number of potentially serious medical conditions.<sup>249</sup> Dr. Shull's testimony directly contradicted Vianna's claim that she was in good health. Giving the jury the medical records aided them in evaluating Dr. Shull's testimony and the validity of Vianna's claim that she is in good health.

The Appellants claim a prejudicial effect of these medical records, but fail to identify the prejudicial effect. No improper inference can be made from the medical records. Rather, the medical records directly refute Vianna Stibal's claim that she is in good health, which was clearly at issue at trial. Appellants' argument seems to suggest that this evidence is prejudicial simply because it reveals that Vianna's claim of having good health is untrue. The medical records had a high probative value by aiding the jury in its evaluation of Dr. Shull's testimony. Without any prejudicial effect, the records were properly admitted.

Regardless, admission of the records through Dr. Shull, if improper, was harmless error because the records could have been admitted through other witnesses such as Vianna herself.

> 6. Appellants' Statute of Limitations argument is void for being new on appeal and is without merit.

reviewed the medical records in Exhibit 18, and testified about a number of conditions Vianna suffers from as evidenced by those records. See, Tr. p. 460, l. 13 – p. 461, l. 3. See also, p. 484, l. 23 – p. 489, l. 223.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>248</sup> Tr. p. 486, l. 13 through p. 489, l. 18.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>249</sup> Tr. P. 489, II. 19-23.

The Court should not consider Appellants' statute of limitations claim because it was never asserted before this appeal. As set forth above, an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, and if raised, the Idaho Supreme Court will not consider the issue.<sup>250</sup> For the first time in this litigation, Appellants argue that Kara's fraud claim is barred by the statute of limitations. The Appellants did not make a statute of limitations claim in their answer,<sup>251</sup> Appellants never argued statute of limitations as part of their motion for summary judgment,<sup>252</sup> and never argued statute of limitations at trial.<sup>253</sup> The issue should not be considered.

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